

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Colorado State Board of Education

RULES GOVERNING STANDARDS FOR INDIVIDUAL CAREER AND ACADEMIC PLANS

1 CCR 301-81

[Editor's Notes follow the text of the rules at the end of this CCR Document.]

Authority: Article IX, Section 1, Colorado Constitution. The statutory basis for these rules is found in section 22-2-106(1)(a), C.R.S., State Board Duties; section 22-2-107(1)(c), C.R.S., State Board Powers; section 22-2-136, C.R.S., Additional duty – state board – individual career and academic plans; 22-30.5-117, Charter Schools – basic skills placement; section 22-30.5-525, C.R.S., Institute Charter Schools – Individual career and academic plans; and sections 22-32-109(1)(oo)(l) and 22-32-109.5, C.R.S., Board of Education – specific duties; ~~and~~.

1.00 Statement of Basis and Purpose.

Pursuant to 22-2-136(1), C.R.S., the State Board of Education is required to promulgate rules to establish standards for Individual Career and Academic Plans ("ICAP") for all students enrolled in public schools in the state. The intent of this provision in the legislation is to ultimately decrease dropout rates and increase graduation rates by assisting students in developing and maintaining a personalized postsecondary career and educational plan that ensures readiness for postsecondary and workforce success and aligns to requirements set forth in section 22-7-1001 et seq. C.R.S. and section 22-11-101, et seq. C.R.S. Pursuant to section 22-2-136(1), C.R.S., an ICAP shall be designed to assist a student and ~~his or her~~ their parent or legal guardian in exploring the postsecondary career and educational opportunities available to the student, aligning course work and curriculum, applying to postsecondary education institutions, securing financial aid, and ultimately entering the workforce.

2.00 Definitions.

2.01 Approved Postsecondary Service Providers: Representatives of pre-collegiate service-providing programs who support middle and high school students' postsecondary objectives and planning and who have a formal service agreement with the schools they serve.

2.02 Contextual and Service Learning: Activities performed by the student that establish connections between school-based instruction and the world of work, careers, and learning that occurs beyond the school itself (i.e., Career and Technical Education, expeditionary learning, experiential education, internship or externships, and apprenticeships).

~~2.01~~2.03 Department: The Department of Education created pursuant to section 24-1-115(1), C.R.S.

~~2.00(2)~~2.04 Individual Career and Academic Plan (ICAP): An individualized plan, developed by the student and the student's parent or legal guardian, in collaboration with their school counselors, school administrators, school personnel and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers that is used to help establish personalized academic and career goals, explore postsecondary career and educational opportunities, align course work and curriculum, apply to postsecondary institutions, secure financial aid and ultimately enter the workforce school.

~~2.00(3) State Board: The State Board of Education created pursuant to Section 1, Article IX of the State Constitution.~~

~~2.02~~ ~~2.00(4) Contextual and Service Learning: Activities performed by the student that establish connections between school-based instruction and the world of work, careers, and learning that~~

Commented [MB1]: Note: Rules 2.01, 2.02, 2.08, and 2.09 are not new. They simply have been moved in order for the definitions to appear in alphabetical order.

~~occurs beyond the school itself (i.e., Career and Technical Education, expeditionary learning, experiential education, internship or externships, and apprenticeships).~~

~~2.00(5)2.05 Implementation Plan: A plan developed and maintained by a local school district that ensures every student and his/her the student's parents or legal guardians have access to and assistance with the development of an ICAP, which has a scope and sequence that includes: district and school objectives, intentional district and school responsibilities, grade level appropriate timelines and key dates.~~

~~2.03 Approved Postsecondary Service Providers: Representatives of pre-collegiate service providing programs who support middle and high school students' postsecondary objectives and planning and who have a formal service agreement with the schools they serve.~~

~~2.00(7) Progress in Visual Arts and Performing Arts Courses: Evidence of having participated in and grades earned in Visual Arts and Performing Arts Courses as defined in 22-1-104.5 (1)(a) - (c), C.R.S.~~

~~2.00(8)2.05 Institute Charter School: A charter school authorized pursuant to [section](#) 22-30.5-501, C.R.S.~~

~~2.00(9) Local Board of Education or Local Board: A school district board of education as authorized in 22-32-103, C.R.S.~~

2.06 Portfolio: A digital or paper record that includes, at minimum, the components required by these rules. The Portfolio may include ~~some~~ student-created information and/or reflections (e.g., websites, documents, surveys) as well as records created by the district or school. The Portfolio may be maintained in different systems by the district or school. For example, some components of the Portfolio may be maintained in the student record system and other components may live in an electronic or paper file. All components of the Portfolio should be accessible as defined in rule 3.02 of these rules. The district or school should communicate to students and parent(s)/guardian(s) in writing how the information contained in the ICAP Portfolio can be accessed.

~~2.00(10)2.07~~ Postsecondary and Workforce Readiness (PWR): Colorado high school graduates demonstrate the knowledge and skills (competencies) needed to succeed in postsecondary settings and to advance in career pathways as lifelong learners and contributing citizens.

2.08 Progress in Visual Arts and Performing Arts Courses: Evidence of having participated in and grades earned in Visual Arts and Performing Arts Courses as defined in 22-1-104.5 (1)(a) - (c), C.R.S.

2.09 State Board: The State Board of Education created pursuant to Section 1, Article IX of the State Constitution.

3.00 Standards for Individual Career and Academic Plans.

~~23.01(1)~~ Each ICAP shall include a career planning, guidance and tracking component and portfolio that reflects, at a minimum, standards as required, but not limited to [section](#) 22-2-136, C.R.S.

~~23.01(1)(a)~~ Documentation of the student's efforts in exploring careers, including: a written postsecondary and workforce goal for the student; yearly benchmarks for reaching that goal; interest surveys that the student completes; and anticipated postsecondary studies;

~~23.01(24)(b2)~~ The student's academic progress including the courses taken, any remediation or credit recovery and any concurrent enrollment credits earned;

~~23.01(34)(c)~~ The student's progress in visual arts and performing arts courses;

~~23.01(44)(d)~~ An intentional sequence of courses reflecting progress toward accomplishment of the student's postsecondary and workforce objectives;

- ~~23.01(54)(e)~~ Relevant assessment scores; including basic skills placement or assessment tests. For schools districts and charter schools that choose to administer the basic skills placement or assessment tests, the student's scores on the basic skills placement or assessment tests administered pursuant to section 22-30.5-117, 22-30.5-526 or 22-32- 109.5(4), C.R.S., any intervention plan created for the student and the student's progress in meeting the intervention plan;
- ~~23.01(64)(f)~~ The student's plans for and experiences in Contextual and Service Learning, if applicable;
- ~~23.01(74)(g)~~ A record of the student's college applications and resume, or alternative applications as they are prepared and submitted;
- ~~23.01(84)(h)~~ The student's postsecondary studies as the student progresses through high school;
- ~~23.01(94)(i)~~ The student's progress toward securing scholarships, work-study, student loans and grants;

3.01(~~104)(j)~~) Other data reflecting student progress toward postsecondary and workforce readiness, including the student's understanding of the financial impact of postsecondary education;

~~23.01(114)(k)~~ The student's scores on basic skills or assessment tests and based on an analysis of the scores (if a district chooses to administer), the student's ~~demonstration of postsecondary workforce readiness as outlined by the Graduation Guidelines Menu of Options~~ level of PWR level of PWR at the time of the test. If a student's scores indicate that he or she is at risk of being unable to demonstrate PWR-readiness prior to or upon high school graduation, school personnel shall work with the student and the student's parent or legal guardian to create an intervention plan that identifies the necessary courses and education support services that the student requires to achieve PWR-readiness prior to or upon high school graduation to be prepared to continue into a postsecondary education option.

3.01(12) Assisting the student and the student's parent or legal guardian in exploring apprenticeship programs registered through the United States Department of Labor's Office of Apprenticeship or a state apprenticeship agency recognized by that office.

~~2.01(2)3.02~~ Each ICAP shall be accessible to educators, students, parents, legal guardians, and Approved Postsecondary Service Providers; and may be shared in compliance with the "Federal Family Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974"; and the student data privacy law ~~CRS~~ section 22-16--101 et seq., C.R.S.

~~23.024(21)(a)~~ Each ICAP portfolio shall be transferable in print and/or electronic form for internal and external district use so that when a student transfers from one school or district to another, ~~his or her~~ the ICAP follows ~~him/her~~ the student.

~~2.01(3)3.03~~ Each public school, in assisting students and parents in creating and maintaining ICAPs shall comply with the requirements of the Federal "Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974", 20 U.S.C. 1232g.

3.04 As part of the process of establishing the ICAP, the student and the student's parents must be made aware of the importance of completing the free application for federal student aid or the Colorado application for state financial aid, or successor forms for accessing federal and state financial aid, and be provided help in completing the forms, if requested.

- 3.05 The ICAP process shall begin no later than ninth grade, but can begin earlier if the district or institute charter school chooses to do so.
- 3.06 The documentation in the Portfolio can be used to support funding for a student's work-based learning course, pursuant to 1 CCR 301-39. For purposes of supporting funding, the documentation in the Portfolio should include, at minimum, the student's name, the term for which it applied (i.e., Fall 2024), the date the documentation was created/updated, the work-based learning the student pursued, and a description of how the work-based learning course connected to the student's postsecondary workforce or education goals.
- 3.07 Districts shall comply with all requirements set forth in sections 22-32-109(1)(oo)(l) and 22-32-109.5(4)(b), C.R.S.
- 3.08 Institute charter schools shall comply with all requirements in sections 22-30.5-117(2) and 22-30.5-525, C.R.S.

4.00 Model Approach to Implementing State Board ICAP Standards

- 4.01 These rules offer a model approach that meets the State Board's ICAP Standards. A district or institute charter school can elect to follow the model approach proposed in these rules or it can develop its own approach to compliance with the standards in these rules and other expectations set forth in state statutes.
- 4.02 The ICAP is divided into two components: the process and the documentation that lives in the Portfolio.
- 4.03 The four domains of focus for the process and the documented portfolio include:
- Individual Self-Awareness and Personal Development
 - Career Exploration and Engagement
 - Academic Planning and Success
 - Post-Graduation Preparedness
- The model approach below makes recommendations within each domain that would be included in the process and portfolio components of the ICAP.

4.04 Individual Self-Awareness and Personal Development

4.04(1) Process:

- 4.04(1)(a) Students have access to interest inventories, strengths-finder assessments, or personality tests identifying the students' skills, talents, aptitudes, values, and/or growth areas ("Interest Surveys"), taken at various points in the student's middle and high school career; and
- 4.04(1)(b) Students have access to adults, trained in meaningful career conversations, that can assist the student with interpreting results.

4.04(2) **Portfolio:** To promote individual self-awareness and personal development, the Portfolio should include documentation of and student reflection on:

- 4.04(2)(a) Interest Surveys taken by the student;
- 4.04(2)(b) The student's experiences in Contextual and Service Learning and any volunteer work in the student's community;
- 4.04(2)(c) Extracurricular activities the student takes part in (either at or outside of the student's school), which could be athletic, artistic, intellectual, civic, or otherwise in support of the student's exploration of their personal strengths and interests;

4.04(2)(d) Any work experience gained which in school (paid or unpaid), including part-time jobs, summer jobs, supporting family business, etc.;

4.04(2)(e) The student's progress in visual arts and performing arts courses, if that is of interest to them; and

4.04(2)(f) Other relevant interpersonal development activities and curriculum.

4.05 Career Exploration and Engagement

4.05(1) **Process:** To encourage career exploration and engagement, students have access to:

4.05(1)(a) Advising meetings to discuss a student-led postsecondary and workforce goal and learn about and/or discuss:

- college credit in high school programs;
- courses to earn an industry-recognized certification;
- work-based learning opportunities, which could include job shadowing, internships, apprenticeships, and/or other work-based learning activities;
- professional networking opportunities;
- resources related to job-seeking like application help, resume writing advice, and cover letter guidance;
- Career and Technical Education pathways (beginning as early as middle school); and
- _____
- _____
- postsecondary pathway options/entry requirements, including military, college/trade schools, entrepreneurship.
- _____

4.05(1)(b) Where available, career fairs, career presentations, industry speakers, mock interviews, mentoring, internships, apprenticeships, and worksite tours.

4.05(2) **Portfolio:** To encourage career exploration and engagement, the Portfolio should include:

4.05(2)(a) Career-focused interest surveys that the student completes, as early as elementary/middle school, used to identify careers or career clusters they may want to explore further;

4.05(2)(b) An annual postsecondary and workforce goal and yearly benchmarks for reaching that goal informed and revised by the meetings described in rule 4.05(1)(a) of these rules;

4.05(2)(c) Student reflections on any activities provided to the student from the Colorado Workforce Development Council's Work-Based Learning Continuum, which includes: career counseling, career planning, career fairs, career presentations, industry speakers, mock interviews, mentoring, worksite tours, and project-based learning; and

4.05(2)(d) Other relevant documentation and student reflections of career exploration.

4.06 Academic Planning and Success

4.06(1) **Process:** To assist students with academic planning and success, students have access to tools and lessons that help them:

4.06(1)(a) map out and succeed in the required coursework that will meet their graduation requirements; and

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 2.88" + Indent at: 3.13"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2", First line: 0"

4.06(1)(b) learn skills such as time management, organization and academic success skills, and other essential skills.

4.06(2) **Process:** Students have access to an annual transcript review process, which includes:

4.06(2)(a) The student's academic progress including the courses taken, any remediation or credit recovery, concurrent enrollment credits earned, and any courses or activities outside of school that the school/district has deemed eligible for academic credit;

4.06(2)(b) The student's progress in electives, such as visual and performing arts and CTE courses;

4.06(2)(c) The student's progress in STEM courses and other coursework aligned with Colorado's workforce demand; and

4.06(2)(d) The student's postsecondary studies as the student progresses through high school, including learning how to order and review college transcripts.

4.06(3) **Portfolio:** To support academic planning and success, the Portfolio includes:

4.06(3)(a) Documentation of career pathway credentials reflecting progress toward accomplishment of the student's postsecondary and workforce objectives;

4.06(3)(b) Relevant assessment scores, including basic skills placement or assessment tests (if administered); and

4.06(3)(c) Where applicable, intervention plans based on basic skills placement or assessment tests pursuant to sections 22-30.5-115, 22-30.5-526, or 22-32-109.5, C.R.S.

4.07 Post-Graduation Preparedness

4.07(1) **Process:** To support the student with post-graduation preparedness, the school or district should:

4.07(1)(a) Make the student and the student's parents aware of the importance of completing the free application for federal student aid or the Colorado application for state financial aid, or successor forms for accessing federal and state financial aid, and be provided help in completing the forms, if requested;

4.07(1)(b) Provide access to financial literacy resources and lessons, such as basic student loan debt repayment plans, budgeting, tax obligations, and understanding the financial impact of postsecondary education;

4.07(1)(c) Work with the student and the student's parent/guardian to create an intervention plan if the student's level of PWR based on an analysis of their scores on basic skills and assessment tests (if the district chooses to administer) demonstrates they are at risk of being unable to demonstrate PWR prior to or upon high school graduation. The intervention plan must identify the necessary courses and education support services that the student requires to achieve PWR prior to high school graduation to be prepared to continue into a postsecondary education option or to enter the workforce.

4.07(2) **Portfolio:** To assist students with post-graduation preparedness, the Portfolio includes:

4.07(2)(a) student-created documentation regarding:

- where the student is applying for college or other postsecondary opportunities;

- college acceptance(s), military service enlistment, and/or job offers in alignment with the student's postsecondary educational or career goals; and
- the student's progress toward securing scholarships, work-study, student loans and grants;

4.07(2)(b) the student's working resume; and

4.07(2)(c) a multi-year plan, starting post high-school graduation, including detailed steps of desired career pathway.

2.00—District and Institute Charter School Responsibility

2.02(1) **District Responsibility.** In implementing ICAPs, each district's Implementation Plan shall meet the following requirements:

- 2.02(1)(a) ~~_____ Policies and procedures in place that meet or exceed the requirements of 22-32-109(1)(oo), including an explanation of the requirements for and benefits of concurrent enrollment, various career pathways, and opportunities available through military enlistment. These policies and procedures shall also meet or exceed the standards set forth in 22-2-136, C.R.S. and include a clear designation of the roles and responsibilities of the student, parents or legal guardians and district staff (including administration, counselors and teachers);~~
- 2.02(1)(b) ~~_____ Evidence of a plan for ICAP implementation process based on recommendations from school counselors, school administrators, school personnel and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers;~~
- 2.02(1)(c) ~~_____ Where possible, the district's demonstration that professional development is in place for school counselors, school administrators, school personnel and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers for implementation of ICAP process;~~
- 2.02(1)(d) ~~_____ Each school counselor and/or school administrator shall ensure that every student in grades nine through twelve and their parents or legal guardians have access to and assistance in the development of an ICAP;~~
- 2.02(1)(e) ~~_____ Beginning no later than a student's ninth grade year, the ICAP shall include goals for the student based on academic and career interests and shall identify required academic courses, career courses, electives, and Contextual and Service Learning opportunities aligned to the district's programs of instruction related to PWR;~~
- 2.02(1)(f) ~~_____ ICAP access and assistance shall be provided at a minimum, annually in grades nine through twelve and should include participation by the student, parent or legal guardian, school counselors, school administrators, school personnel and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers as applicable; the board of education may require the schools of the school districts to assist the students and his or her legal guardian to develop and maintain the student's ICAP in any grade prior to ninth grade;~~
- 2.02(1)(g) ~~_____ Each year's ICAP review shall indicate any differences from the previous year's ICAP including but not limited to: goal revision; new postsecondary career and educational plans; financial aid opportunities and changes in academic courses;~~
- 2.02(1)(h) ~~_____ School counselors, school administrators, school personnel and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers at middle schools, and high schools shall collaborate to ensure that each student and their parents or legal guardians receive information and advising regarding the relationship between ICAP and postsecondary goals and expectations;~~
- 2.02(1)(i) ~~_____ ICAP and ICAP related data shall be available upon request to the student, parents or legal guardians, educators, and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers~~

and in electronic and/or printable form;

2.02(1)(j) — The Implementation Plan shall include provisions to include a means to insert ICAP related data into an electronic database for an individual student to the extent practicable;

2.02(1)(k) — Where possible, the district shall ensure and verify that ICAP processes align with the American School Counselor Association's adopted standards;

2.02(1)(l) — Schools will assist each student who is enrolled in the school and has an ICAP to use the plan effectively to direct the student's course selections and performance expectations in at least grades nine through twelve; to assist the student in meeting his or her academic and career goals as described in ICAP; and to enable the student to demonstrate PWR prior to or upon high school graduation at a level that allows the student to progress toward his or her postsecondary education goals, without requiring remedial education services or courses.

2.02(2) **Institute Charter Schools Responsibility.** In implementing ICAPs, each Institute Charter School shall develop an Implementation Plan. The Implementation Plan shall meet the following requirements:

2.02(2)(a) — Beginning no later than a student's ninth grade year, the ICAP shall include goals for the student based on academic and career interests and shall identify required academic courses, career courses, electives and Contextual and Service Learning opportunities aligned to the district's programs of instruction related to PWR;

2.02(2)(b) — Policies and procedures in place that meet or exceed the requirements of 22-30.5-525 and 22-30.5-505, including an explanation of the requirements for and benefits of concurrent enrollment, various career pathways, and opportunities available through military enlistment. These policies and procedures shall also meet or exceed the standards set forth in 22-2-136, C.R.S. and include a clear designation of the roles and responsibilities of the student, parents or legal guardians and staff;

2.02(2)(c) — Schools will assist each student who is enrolled in the school and has an ICAP to use the plan effectively to direct the student's course selections and performance expectations in at least grades nine through twelve; to assist the student in meeting his or her academic and career goals as described in the ICAP; and to enable the student to demonstrate PWR prior to or upon high school graduation at a level that allows the student to progress toward his or her postsecondary education goals, without requiring remedial education services or courses.

2.01 — Evaluation of Program

2.03(1) In accordance with section 2.02 of these rules, above, districts and Institute Charter Schools shall establish specific policies for school counselors, school administrators, school personnel and/or Approved Postsecondary Service Providers to ensure every student has access to and assistance in the development of an ICAP.

2.03(2) The policies shall include a method to evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of the standards set forth in section 22-2-136, C.R.S

Editor's Notes

History

Entire rule eff. 03/10/2010.

Entire rule eff. 06/30/2011.

Entire rule eff. 04/15/2013.

Entire rule eff. 03/02/2018.